## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DEBORAH SASS.,	)	(Court of Appeal
District 1D	)	Docket No.: B283122)
Plaintiff and Respondent.		Sup. Ct. No. BC554035
vs.	j (	SUPREME COURT
THE COURT OF THE COURT	)	CBC
THEODORE L. COHEN	)	(CRC) 8.25(b) JUL 2 3 2019
Defendant and Appellant,	• )	Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, On Appeal from the Los Angeles County Superior Court; The Honorable Frederick Shaller, Judge Presiding, Dept. 46

## **OPENING BRIEF ON MERITS**

Robert S. Gerstein, Esq., SBN 35941	LAW OFFICES OF JAMES P. WOHL
LAW OFFICES OF ROBERT S.	James P. Wohl (SBN 34866)
GERSTEIN	1925 Century Park East, Ste. 2140

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

(1) In a complaint that seeks an accounting of specified assets, is the plaintiff required to plead a specific amount of damages to support a default judgment, or is it sufficient for purposes of Code of Civil Procedure section 580 to identify the assets that are in defendant's possession and request half of their value?

(2) Should the comparison of whether a default judgment exceeds the amount of compensatory damages demanded in the operative pleadings examine the aggregate amount of non-duplicative damages or instead proceed on a claim-by-claim or item-by-item basis?

#### INTRODUCTION

This Court should hold that (1) when plaintiff brings an accounting action seeking an equal division of the value of property in defendant's possession, and identifies that property in the pleadings, section 580 is satisfied without the need to state a specific sum for its value, and that (2) whether the compensatory damages in the default judgment exceed the amount demanded in plaintiff's pleadings should be decided on an aggregate basis.

As to the first question, it has long (and rightly) been held that marital dissolution petitions seeking equal division of property satisfy section 580 though they do not state a specific dollar amount of damages.

In re Marriage of Andresen (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 873, 879-80 (Andresen);

In re Marriage of Eustice (2015) 242 Cal.App.4th 1291 (Eustice). It is necessary only to check the box on the form petition for division of property and attach a list of the specific properties to be divided.

The court in Cassel v. Sullivan, Roche & Johnson (1999) 76

Cal.App.4th 1157, 1164 (*Cassel*) showed that there is no good reason not to extend that holding to accounting cases involving the division of specified property in the hands of the defendant. See also *Warren v. Warren* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 373 (*Warren*), and *Schwab v. Southern California Gas.Co.* (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1308 (*Schwab*).

Views to the contrary in the Opinion below, in *Finney v. Gomez* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 1495, and *Van Sickle v. Gilbert* (2011) 111 Cal.App.4th 527, should be rejected. The *Cassel* holding most fully accords with section 580, the due process and fundamental fairness values underlying it, and the equitable principles applicable to the accounting cause of action.

The answer to the second question is that the damages alleged in the pleadings must be aggregated in order to determine whether default judgment exceeds them. This Court has held it is the "ceiling" on "potential liability" overall of which the defendant must have notice in deciding whether to appear or default. *Greenup v. Rodman* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 822 at 833 (*Greenup*). That ceiling is found in the aggregation of all compensatory damages stated in the complaint, whether in the form of specific dollar figures or the identification of property in defendant's hands, the value of which is to be divided equally between the parties.

In what follows, Sass will show why both questions should be answered affirmatively, as well as to clarify the current state of the law which gave rise to the questions.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sass filed her original complaint against Cohen and TAG for breach of Cohen's *Marvin* agreement, fraud, accounting and other causes of action, in August, 2014. (CT 9). She filed her operative Second Amended Complaint on December 15, 2015. (1 CT 106). She thereafter filed a notice of punitive damages in the amount of \$4,000,000. (CT 147-50).

As defendants filed neither an answer or demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint, the trial court entered default against both on March 10, 2016. (CT 157). Thereafter, the trial court entered default judgment against both in the amount of \$2,812,128.50 in compensatory damages, \$88,984 in punitive damages, \$37,951.20 in prejudgment interest, and \$2,569.04 in costs. (1 CT 164-65).

As shown in the trial court's statement of decision (CT 257-61), the judgment included:

(A) Against Cohen, for violation of the *Marvin* agreement to share equally in their assets and income during their relationship, (1<sup>st</sup> Cause of

#### Action, CT 113-15):

- (1) \$126,504 representing one half of the profits from the sale of a Hollywood property, plus \$37,951.20 in interest (CT 257);
- (2) an order directing Cohen to deed Sass a 50% interest in an Oakley Drive property as tenant in common (CT 259);
- (3) \$2,099,610.00, representing one half of the value of TAG Strategic LLC, and one half of the \$444,918 remaining in the TAG bank account as her half of the income produced by TAG during their relationship (CT 257-58);
- (4) \$10,500 for 50% of Sass's original investment in Cohen's Rock & Reilly stock (CT 259-60);
- (B) Against TAG, for failure to pay wages (Third Cause of Action, CT 113-14), \$120,0000 (CT 258);
- (C) Against TAG, for waiting time penalties (Fourth Cause of Action, CT 117), \$5,000 (CT 258);
- (D) Against both defendants, for fraud (Seventh Cause of Action, CT 120-21), the same compensatory damages as for breach of the *Marvin* contract, along with \$88,984 as punitive damages (CT 260);

(E) Against both defendants, 37,951.20 in prejudgment interest and \$2,569.04, in costs. (CT 261).

Cohen's motion to set aside the default and default judgment against him was heard and denied on April 13, 2017. (CT 296-311). The ruling rejected Cohen's claim of excusable neglect as not credible (CT 309-11), and cited *Cassel*, *supra*, 76 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1164, as the basis for rejecting Appellant's claim that the default and judgment should be set aside for failure to provide a timely statement of damages. (CT 301-02).

The Court of Appeal Opinion rejects the reasoning of *Cassel, supra*, 76 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1164, holding that section 580 requires notice of damages in the complaint be in the form of precisely stated dollar amounts. (Opn., pp. 13-16). The Opinion then goes on to find that the amount of compensatory damages exceeded the amount of which Cohen had notice from the complaint by \$1,819,032. (Opn., p. 22).

The Opinion arrived at that figure in this way:

First, the Opinion finds the sum of all the specific dollar amounts alleged in the complaint as compensatory damages to be \$3,837,500. That figure includes \$3,000,000 as the value of Sass's half interest in the two houses acquired during the relationship, the Hollywood house (which Cohen had sold) and the Oakley house. But, as the judgment awarded Sass

a constructive trust over her half interest in the Oakley home, the Opinion concluded it must find a value for that half interest and subtract it from the aggregate total. (Opn., p. 19-20).

The Opinion found the value of the constructive trust to be \$2,850,000 as follows. The complaint alleged that Cohen had received at least \$300,000 in profits from the sale of the Hollywood property, and sought half that, \$150,000, as Sass's share of those profits. (see Opn., p. 5). The Opinion, taking that \$150,000 to be Sass's "share of the proceeds from the sale," subtracted it from the \$3,000,000 stated to be the value of Sass's half share in both houses together, concluded that Sass's constructive trust over her share of the Hollywood house substituted from \$2,850,000 in the damages alleged, so that only \$987,500 in alleged compensatory damages remained. (Opn., pp. 19-20).

Finally, the Opinion remands to the trial court for an exercise of discretion whether to (1) reinstate the default judgment with a reduction of \$1,819,032, or (2) vacate the default and allow Sass to file an amended complaint.

Sass filed a Petition for Rehearing, pointing out that the complaint stated \$3,000,000 to be the fair market value of the two houses taken together, but that Sass's complaint sought half of \$300,000, neither as her

half of the fair market value of the Hollywood house, nor as "her share of the proceeds from the sale of the Hollywood house," (Opn., p. 19), but only as "her share of the profits" from the sale, alleged to be "in excess of \$300,000." (Opn., p. 5; CT 118) (PRH 6).

In response, the Court of Appeal modified the Opinion to assert that the complaint stated \$300,000 to be the "fair market value of . . . the Hollywood [h]ouse received by . . . Cohen when he sold that house." (Order of April 4, 2019).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

(The facts are drawn from the Second Amended Complaint and the evidence presented by Sass in support of entry of default under California Rule of Court 3.1800, as described in the trial court's Statement of Decision, CT 257).

Beginning in May, 2006, Cohen and Sass formed a relationship which developed into an agreement to merge their lives, and to make all property and income acquired by either of them during their relationship joint property. Cohen promised that if Sass left London and came to live with him in Los Angeles, he would take care of her for the rest of her life. (CT 71).

In October, 2007 Cohen told Sass he was buying "their house" on

Hollywood Boulevard. He promised repeatedly to put Sass on the title of that home, but never did. (CT 71).

In December, 2007, Sass relocated to Los Angeles in reliance on Cohen's promises. She lived in the Hollywood house with Cohen, who for the time being paid all of the bills, and Sass's expenses. (CT 72). Once Cohen and Sass formed their relationship, Cohen left the job he had at EMI and formed TAG Strategic LLC, of which he was sole shareholder. Sass worked at TAG, first as Vice President of Client Relations, and later as Global Head of Business Development. (CT 72-73).

Cohen told Sass he wanted her to have equity in the company, but paid her nothing for her work there until January, 2009. At that time she began working 70 hours a week. For that work, which ultimately brought in approximately \$1.4 million in revenue, Cohen promised to pay her a "token sum" of \$5,000 a month. In fact, he paid her only \$2,000 a month for 10 months altogether. (CT 73).

In April, 2011 Sass returned to the United Kingdom on an extended vacation. She expressed to Cohen her dissatisfaction at his failure to keep his promises, and told him she would return to Los Angeles only if he agreed to a series of terms, including putting her on the title of the Hollywood House, giving her equity in TAG, and incorporating TAG

Europe in both their names. (CT 110-11, Aug. 16-17). Cohen agreed and Sass returned. (CT 111).

In summer 2011, once Cohen and Sass's work had made TAG into a thriving, profitable business (CT 119; Motion to Augment [hereinafter Aug.] 126), Cohen announced to Sass that he was "buying her a house." He then asked Sass to provide \$200,000 for half of the down payment on the house on Oakley Drive he was buying. In reliance on his promise that this would be "her" house, she sold a home she owned in Australia to raise the \$200,000 she put into it. When escrow closed, they moved into the house together. (CT 74).

Also that summer, Sass purchased (to be held in Cohen's name) stock in Rock & Reilly, a company formed to operate a restaurant in West Hollywood. (CT 111-12). According to the complaint. Sass invested \$25,000 (*ibid*), but the trial court found on the basis of Sass's declaration in support of the default judgment that the amount was \$21,000. (CT 259; Aug.126).

Cohen made his many promises to Sass without any intention of carrying out any of them. (CT 120).

In December, 2012, Sass moved out of the Oakley house, and later leased an apartment of her own. (CT 112). In April, 2013, Cohen

announced he would no longer pay Sass's expenses. (CT 114).

Then, about six months before Sass filed this action in August, 2014 (CT 9), Cohen sold the Hollywood House, making a profit on the sale the trial court found to be \$253,008.87. Cohen has never shared any of the proceeds with Sass. (CT 113, 257).

Further, the complaint alleges that the fair market value of Sass's half interests in the Hollywood and Oakley properties was \$3 million. (CT 120-21).

After the complaint was filed, Cohen closed the TAG offices, caused the California Secretary of State to suspend the company, and secreted its assets. (CT 113). On the basis of evidence from Sass's forensic accountant, the trial court valued TAG at \$4,199,219 (CT 257; Aug. 112), and found that there was \$889,836 remaining in TAG accounts. (CT 258; Aug. 119).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. A MONEY DEFAULT JUDGMENT IN AN ACCOUNTING ACTION AWARDING HALF THE VALUE OF ASSETS IN DEFENDANT'S POSSESSION SPECIFICALLY IDENTIFIED IN THE COMPLAINT SATISFIES SECTION 580 AND DUE PROCESS, WITHOUT PRIOR NOTICE OF THEIR PRECISE MONEY VALUE.

Section 580 provides that the relief awarded plaintiff on default "cannot exceed that demanded in the complaint," or the subsequent

statements of damages required by statute in personal injury and wrongful death cases (Code Civ.Proc. §425.11), or where punitive damages (Code Civ.Proc. §425.11) are sought.

This Court has held that section 580 "means what it says and says what it means": where the defendant has defaulted, "a plaintiff cannot be granted more relief than is asked for in the complaint." *In re Marriage of Lippel* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1160 at 1165. The limitation includes both the type and amount of relief. "If no specific amount of damages is demanded, the prayer cannot insure adequate notice of the demands made upon the defendant." *Becker v. S.P.V. Construction Co.* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 489, 493-94 (*Becker*). Further, this Court has held that section 580's notice provision is required of due process. *Lippel, supra,* 51 Cal.3d 1160,1166; *Becker, supra,* 27 Cal.3d 489, 494; *Greenup, supra,* 42 Cal.3d 822, 829.

The question here is whether a complaint with an accounting cause of action, which gives the defendant notice that the plaintiff seeks half the value of specified assets in defendant's possession, satisfies due process as embodied in section 580, making the inclusion of a precise dollar amount unnecessary.

Cassel, supra, 76 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1164, a principle focus of the

Court of Appeal opinion here (Opn., pp. 13-16), decided that it does<sup>1</sup>, using as its starting point the development of decisional law under section 580 as applied in marital dissolution cases, beginning with this Court's *Lippel* opinion.

A. IT IS WELL ESTABLISHED THAT MARITAL DISSOLUTION PETITIONS SEEKING AN EQUAL DIVISION OF ASSETS NEED NOT INCLUDE A PRECISE MONEY FIGURE.

The issue in *Lippel* was whether a spouse petitioning for marital dissolution could be awarded child support against the defaulting respondent, though she had not checked the child support box on the mandatory Judicial Council petition form. 51 Cal.3d 1160, 1163-1164. This Court held that no child support could be awarded on default if the box had not been checked. *Id.*, 1173.

Applying section 580's requirement of fair notice (see *supra*, pp. 17-18) in the context of the form prescribed by the Judicial Council, this Court concluded that "the manner in which these boxes area checked or not checked..." on the prescribed petition, "...informs and puts the respondent on notice of what specific relief the petitioner is, or is not, seeking." 51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In *Cassel*, the plaintiff was not seeking a half interest, but his fractional partner's interest in a law firm which was precisely defined in the partnership agreement. 76 Cal.App.4th 1157, 1163.

In Andresen, supra, 28 Cal.App.4th at 879-80, the issue was whether section 580's notice requirement was satisfied where wife checked the box for equal division of marital property and liabilities, and attached a list of those properties and liabilities, without the need to further specify "the amount of relief requested...."

The *Andresen* court held that section 580 was satisfied by the combination of checking the box for division of property and attaching the list. 28 Cal.App.4th 873, 879-80. Its reasoning began with this Court's statement, in *Lippel*, that by checking boxes as required on the petition, a petitioner in marital dissolution cases "...informs and puts the respondent on notice of what specific relief the petitioner is, or is not, seeking." 28 Cal.App.4th at 879, quoting 51 Cal.3d at 1169-70.

Though admitting that this Court had no occasion to deal with that specific issue in *Lippel*, the *Andresen* court found nothing in *Lippel* to preclude the use of that reasoning to hold that "the amount of relief requested, as contrasted with the type of relief requested" need not be stated where the relevant form does not require it. 28 Cal.App.4th at 879. Husband was "given adequate notice that the wife sought a division of the property and liabilities identified in the wife's papers," and that the court

would "undertake to assess and then divide the alleged community equally between the parties." If husband "desired to be heard on the subject of the valuation and division of the listed items, he should have appeared." *Id.*, at 880.

Andresen's holding has been reaffirmed and applied in Eustice, 242 Cal.App.4th 1291, and In re Marriage of Kahn (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1113.

In *Kahn*, wife in the dissolution proceeding indicated what relief she sought by checking the box for "Other" relief on the form petition, and typing in that she was seeking relief for her husband's breach of fiduciary duty. 215 Cal.App.4th 1113, 1116. The trial court struck husband's responsive pleading as a discovery sanction, and awarded wife a default judgment of \$275,000. 215 Cal.App.4th 1113, 1115-16.

The *Kahn* court, recognizing *Andresen* as prevailing law on the issue, concluded it would be "stretching *Andresen* too far" to uphold the default judgment in the case before it. Unlike the box for division of community property, "other" is "a catchall category." Providing nothing more than a checkmark by the word "other" denied husband the "notice of the specific nature and amount" of the relief sought against him to which he was entitled under section 580. 215 Cal.App.4th 1113, 1119.

The *Eustice* court found justification in the facts before it for flexibility in application of the instructions for filling out the form petition. In *Eustice*, wife had checked the petition's box for division of community property, but had not attached a list of assets to the petition. She did, however, list assets in her supplementary declarations thereafter, and husband filed a responsive pleading with his own list. The trial court struck the responsive pleading for failure in discovery, and entered a default. 242 Cal.App.4th 1291, 1295-1299, 1307-08. The trial court awarded wife a default judgment dividing real and personal property, investment accounts, insurance policies and a bank account balance. 242 Cal.App.4th 1291, 1302.

The Eustice court found that, while there was no identification of the properties at issue in the petition, husband had fair notice of them from the supplementary declarations, as demonstrated by his responsive pleading.

The default judgment should stand, the court concluded, for one thing, because "Joseph should not be permitted to benefit from his recalcitrance" in refusing to provide discovery. 242 Cal.App.4th at 1307.

Andresen and the cases following it demonstrate that, at least where the form petitions for marital dissolution are mandated, section 580 is satisfied without the need to state a specific dollar figure. Providing the

respondent a list of assets and debts to be divided equally is enough.

The Andresen opinion itself suggests that, given the mandatory character of the form petition and the instructions accompanying it, section 580 can be satisfied in this context simply by identifying the "type" of relief sought, without stating the "amount." 28 Cal.App.4th 873, 879. But Kahn indicates otherwise, stating that the defaulting defendant was entitled to "notice of the specific nature and amount" of the "other" relief sought against him. 215 Cal.App.4th 1113, 1119. Eustice too makes it clear that while a precise dollar figure is not required, there must be some form of genuine notice of the "amount" of recovery sought. 242 Cal.App.4th 1291, 1307.

B. THE REASONING OF SUCH MARITAL PROPERTY DIVISION CASES AS *ANDRESEN* IS EQUALLY APPLICABLE TO ACCOUNTING CASES ALSO SEEKING EQUAL DIVISION OF THE VALUE OF PROPERTY IN THE DEFENDANT'S POSSESSION.

The first question presented here is whether the *Andresen* holding that a default money judgment can, consistent with section 580, be awarded in a marital dissolution case without prior notice of a specific dollar amount, extends to accounting cases where plaintiff seeks equal division of the value of property possessed by the defendant. As demonstrated below, the answer is that it does.

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