S255262



#### SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 2 3 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Deborah Sass, Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

Theodore L. Cohen,
Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Two, Case No. B283122
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC554035
Honorable Frederick Shaller

#### **Answer Brief on the Merits**

SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. \*Todd E. Lundell (#250813) 600 Anton Boulevard Suite 1400 Costa Mesa, CA 92626

Tel: 714.427.7000 Fax: 714.427-7799

Email: tlundell@swlaw.com

SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.
Keith M. Gregory (#117837)
Daniel G. Seabolt (#322704)
350 South Grand Avenue
Suite 3100

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

relief. Sass's arguments for applying that narrow, legislatively endorsed exception to this case miss the mark.

# 1. The *Lippel* and *Andresen* decisions recognize a legislatively created exception to the strict pleading requirements

In *Lippel*, supra, this court considered "whether it is a denial of due process, as embodied in Code of Civil Procedure section 580 (section 580), to enter a default judgment ordering a husband to pay child support, where the wife's petition for marital dissolution . . . did not request child support and no notice of any such request was ever served on the husband." Lippel, supra, 51 Cal.3d at 1163. Although the wife had not requested it in her petition, on default the trial court ordered the husband to pay \$100 per month in child support. Id. at 1164. The husband did not pay the ordered child support over the next 16 years, and the wife collected benefits from the City of San Francisco. *Ibid*. The City then obtained an order garnishing the husband's wages to recoup its losses. *Ibid*. The husband subsequently moved to vacate the child support judgment and the order assigning his wages, arguing that the judgment was void because wife's petition provided no notice that he would be required to pay child support. *Ibid*. The trial court denied the husband's petition, and the court of appeal affirmed. Id. at 1164-65.

This court reversed, holding the wife's form petition for marital dissolution failed to give notice that the husband could be liable for child support because the wife failed to check the box specifically requesting it. *Id.* at 1169-70. This court recognized "[t]he enactment of The Family Law Act (Act) dramatically and drastically changed the whole landscape of family law." *Id.* at 1169. "The Act abolished the traditional complaint," and "empowered and directed the Judicial Council to create, as a substitute for the traditional complaint, a mandatory printed standard form petition." *Ibid.* This court recognized that the standard form petition created by the Judicial Council only required petitioners to check boxes indicating the type of relief requested, and held the manner in which those boxes were checked puts the respondent on notice on the specific relief sought:

[I]n 1970, the Judicial Council... established a mandatory standard form dissolution petition. This standard form petition... requires a petitioner to set forth certain statistical information in spaces provided, and to check boxes, from a series provided, which indicate the remedy or relief requested ... and the specific relief being sought (e.g. property division, spousal support, child custody support or attorney fees).

Coupled with the requirement that the respondent be served with a copy of the petition (Civ. Code, § 4503), the manner in which these boxes are checked, or not checked, informs and puts the respondent on notice of what specific relief the petitioner is, or is not, seeking.

*Id.* at 1169-70. By failing to check the box requesting child support, the wife failed to put the husband on notice that child

support was at issue. Therefore, under section 580, the trial court had no jurisdiction to award child support when entering a default judgment. *Id.* at 1170-71.

Following the *Lippel* decision, the Fifth District in *In re* Marriage of Andresen (1994) 28 Cal. App. 4th 873, considered whether a wife who had checked the box on the statutorily mandated "standard form dissolution petition" seeking division of community property, and who attached a separate notice of the specific property to be divided, had given sufficient notice of the amount of the resulting judgment. Id. at 879. The court answered that question affirmatively and affirmed a trial court order refusing to vacate a default judgment. The court read *Lippel* as standing for the proposition that "due process is satisfied and sufficient notice is given for section 580 purposes in marital dissolution actions by the petitioner's act of checking the boxes and inserting the information called for on the standard form dissolution petition which correspond or relate to the allegations made and the relief sought by the petitioner." *Ibid.* In so holding, the court emphasized that "the standard form community property declaration" that petitioners are required to file specifically instructs: "When this form is attached to Petition or Response, values and your proposal regarding division need not be completed." Id. at 876; see also id. at 879 ("Consistent with the 'Instructions' in the declaration form, the wife did not assign any values to the described property or debts, or propose that they be divided in any particular manner.").

More recently, however, the courts in *In re Marriage of* Kahn (2013) 215 Cal. App. 4th 1113 and In re Marriage of Eustice (2015) 242 Cal.App.4th 1291, both recognized the need for formal notice to the defendant of his potential liability for damages before entry of default. In Kahn, the court distinguished Andresen, holding that merely checking the box marked "other" on the form complaint was insufficient notice for section 580. Kahn, supra, 215 Cal.App.4th at 1119 ("The checkbox for 'other' relief is distinguishable from the checkboxes for a division of community property. It is a catchall category; it could encompass practically any kind of relief, including relief that is not statutorily required in a marital dissolution action."). The *Eustice* court took another approach, holding that the "preliminary declaration of disclosure" required by Family Code section 2103 "serves the purpose of ensuring notice of potential liability, just as would a section 425.11 statement of damages . . . or a section 425.115 written notice." Eustice, supra, 242 Cal.App.4th at 1304-05.

# 2. Cassel extends the exception in marital dissolution actions to cover any complaint seeking an accounting

As Sass explains in her opening brief (at 26-27), the court of appeal in *Cassel* expanded the exception recognized in *Lippel* and *Andresen* to affirm a default judgment in an accounting action despite that the plaintiff's complaint had not sought a specific amount of damages. There, the plaintiff withdrew from a law partnership and then filed an action for an accounting and

valuation of his interest in that partnership. Cassel, supra, 76 Cal.App.4th at 1159. The complaint did not attempt to value the partnership or plaintiff's interest therein. Id. at 1159-60. The partnership did not respond to the complaint, and the trial court entered a default judgment for \$305,690 plus \$5,000 in attorneys' fees. Id. at 1160. The partnership then moved to set aside the judgment because the plaintiff had failed to serve a statement of damages. Ibid. The trial court agreed, but after plaintiff served the statement of damages, the trial court imposed a second default judgment for the same amount, plus additional fees. Ibid.

On appeal, the court of appeal agreed with the plaintiff that the original default judgment should not have been set aside. Id. at 1160-61. The court held "in an action seeking to account for and value a former partner's partnership interest and for payment of that interest, the complaint need only specify the type of relief requested, and not the specific dollar amount." Id. at 1163-64. The court (erroneously) interpreted the decisions in Lippel and Andresen as holding that the requirements of section 580 and due process are satisfied whenever the plaintiff seeks division of specific property and the defendant is "in possession of the essential information necessary to calculate their potential exposure." Id. at 1164. Applying what it discerned as the principle articulated in those marital dissolution cases, the court held that the plaintiff was not required to plead a specific amount of damages in his accounting action because "the partnership was in possession of the partnership agreement," which contained a "specific method for calculating a withdrawing partner's

interest." *Id.* at 1163. Thus, the partnership itself "could precisely calculate the amount for which it could be liable if it chose to default," and the original default judgment did not violate section 580 or due process. *Ibid*.

3. Cassel was wrongly decided; the Lippel and Andresen decisions are limited to marital dissolution actions filed by statutorily mandated form complaint

In the twenty years since its publication, no published decision has ever applied *Cassel* to affirm a judgment that exceeded the amount stated in the complaint. True, two decisions appear to have endorsed *Cassel's* holding, but found it did not apply on the facts. See *Schwab v. Southern California Gas Co.* (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1308, 1326; *Warren v. Warren* (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 373, 378-78. The vast majority of courts, however, have rejected *Cassel* to hold that *Andresen's* narrow exception to the strict statutory pleading requirements in sections 580 and 585 is limited to marriage dissolution actions where the petitioner is required to file the complaint using a statutorily mandated form petition. As those courts have correctly recognized, *Cassel* misunderstood the decision in *Lippel* and, therefore, misapplied the exception recognized in *Andresen*.

In Finney v. Gomez (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 527, for example, the court considered whether a default judgment on claims for non-marital partition of property, breach of contract, and contribution was void where it exceeded the amount asserted in the complaint. As Sass does here, the plaintiff relied on Lippel,

Andresen, and Cassel to argue that the judgment was proper, but the court of appeal disagreed. The court noted that if read broadly, the Lippel decision might allow a default judgment to exceed the amount demanded in the complaint, "but only when the type of relief is specified via a statutorily mandated form complaint which does not provide the ability to indicate an exact amount." Id. at 537. Thus, while the "holding and rationale [in Andresen] makes sense when applied to form complaints in marital dissolution actions," extending that holding to general civil actions "is unwarranted" because plaintiffs are "not confined to a mandatory form petition." Id. at 542.

Addressing Cassel directly, the court in Finney held that Cassel improperly "relied on the reasoning in Lippel regarding the provision of notice via form complaints and extended it to justify a broad, unclear exception to section 580." Id. at 541. The court acknowledged that sometimes, as in Cassel, a defendant may "possess[] from the outset, all the information necessary to assess the ultimate judgment." Ibid. (emphasis in original). The court held, however, that "such individual cases cannot lessen the requirements of section 580." Ibid; see also id. at 541-42 ("the rationale of Cassel runs counter to the primary purpose of section 580 of ensuring notice and fundamental fairness.").

Similarly, in Van Sickle v. Gilbert (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 1495, the court summarized Andresen as holding "[i]n a marital dissolution action, notice sufficient to support a default judgment dividing the community's property . . . may be provided by

checking the appropriate boxes on a form petition and listing the property to be divided in the petition." 196 Cal.App.4th at 1527 (emphasis added). However, the court declined to extend that holding to an action seeking valuation of a partnership because "a simple request that the court value the partnership interest does not provide real notice to the defendant of the degree of financial liability the defendant will face in the event of a default." *Ibid*. The court also recognized that there may be circumstances, like *Cassel*, where "the defendant may have access to materials from which it can calculate the extent of its liability," but that "is not a substitute for notice from the plaintiff of the amount of money the plaintiff is seeking." *Ibid*.

Similarly, the court of appeal here rejected *Cassel*. The court explained that "the parties to a marital dissolution case may obtain a default judgment in an amount not alleged in the operating pleadings only where the statutorily mandated pleadings in such a case *preclude* them from alleging any such amount." [Op'n at 15 (emphasis in original).] The court properly rejected Sass's assertion that the marital dissolution cases rest on some "broader principle that parties seeking to value and divide assets should be excused from the statutory mandate of pleading the amount of relief sought," and held that "*Cassel* was incorrect in reading them as doing so." [*Ibid.*] The court also recognized the rule for which Sass advocates "impermissibly substitutes actual or constructive notice for formal notice" required by sections 580 and 585. [*Ibid.*]

Here, unlike in *Lippel* and *Andresen*, Sass was not constrained to a "statutorily mandated form complaint." More generally, the California Legislature has not abolished the traditional complaint for accounting actions, authorized plaintiffs to file a complaint in such actions without specifying an amount of damages, or otherwise authorized courts to enter a default judgment in amounts that exceed the relief requested by the complaint. This court should decline Sass's request to impose a judicially-created exception to the pleading requirements and limits on default judgments where, as here, plaintiffs have full control over the content and allegations in their complaint. Rather, the strict requirements of sections 580 and 585 should apply.

C. Sass's arguments for extending the exception recognized in marital dissolution cases to accounting actions miss the mark

This court should reject Sass's arguments for extending the exception to the strict pleading requirements in marital dissolution actions to accounting actions.

1. The distinction between marital dissolution actions and other actions is based on legislative action and does not elevate form over substance

Sass finds problematic the distinction between marital dissolution cases, where the petitioner is not required to state a specific amount of damages to recover a default judgment, and all other cases where section 580's pleading requirement serves as the ceiling for any default judgment. Sass argues that such a rule

cannot be justified based on the fact that the form petition in dissolution cases precludes petitioners from stating an amount certain because "despite this statutory preclusion, marital dissolution cases remain subject to section 580." [OBM at 32.]

Sass misses the point. While in some sense it is true that marital dissolution cases are subject to section 580, by doing away with complaints in favor of form petitions that preclude petitioners in dissolution proceedings from stating any specific amount of damages, the Legislature itself tempered the strict requirements of section 580 as applied to marital dissolution actions. The Legislature's more specific actions related to marital dissolution cases, which resulted in a form that does not allow petitioners to state a specific amount of damages, apply over the general requirements of sections 580 and 585. Cf., Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control v. Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Bd. (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1518, 1524 ("As a principle of construction, it is well-established that a specific provision prevails over a general one relating to the same subject.").

Sass next complains that this distinction "elevates form over substance, giving precedence to statutorily mandated rules about the completion of form petitions over the demands of due process and fundamental fairness embodied in section 580." [OBM at 34.] A court's authority to enter a default judgment is not, however, merely a matter of "fairness," but is based on the very "statutorily mandated rules" that Sass wants to ignore. As this court has repeatedly held, "the court's jurisdiction to render

default judgments can be exercised only in the way authorized by statute." Burtnett, supra, 33 Cal.2d at 807 (emphasis in original); see also People ex rel. Lockyer v. Brar (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 659, 666 ("the claim that a judgment exceeds the relief demanded in the complaint" is "jurisdictional" and can be raised for first time on appeal). The distinction between a plaintiff who is required to file a statutorily mandated form petition that precludes him or her from asserting a specific amount of damages and a plaintiff in an accounting action who is the "master" of her own complaint is, therefore, a matter of substance (jurisdiction) and not arbitrary form.

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